STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

MAY 12 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Certiorari to Richland County
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

JOHN J. MOORE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000786

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

JOHN J. MOORE

Petitioner

B.R.C.I. Murray 125

4460 Broad River Road

Columbia S.C. 29210

PRO SE

Issues Presented

1. Is there any evidence of probative value which support the PCR courts conclusion that counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction explaining how the jury must evaluate the “use of a vehicle as deadly weapon” in determining the weight of the evidence and credibility of the witnesses in evaluating each self-defense element previously charged to the jury by the trial judge under the beyond a reasonable doubt standard?

2. Is there any evidence of probative value which supports the PCR courts conclusion that counsel was not ineffective for failing to object and request voir dire to examine the jurors or otherwise move for mistrial on the basis that several jurors fell asleep during the course of the defendant’s trial and in doing so compromised the defendant’s right to impartial and mentally competent jurors to insure a fair trial?

3. Is there any evidence of probative value which supports the PCR courts conclusion that counsel was not ineffective for failing to properly investigate and prepare Applicant’s case where the PCR court proffered Applicant’s affidavit evidence into the record but did not consider Applicant’s affidavit evidence in its determination of this ineffective assistance of counsel allegation?

4. Is there any evidence of probative value which supports the PCR court’s conclusion that counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the jury instruction given an accomplice liability and “jointly at fault in bringing on the difficulty” where there is no evidence in the record the defendant aided, abetted, or acted in concert with Kerwyn Phillips in any of the elements of his convictions?

Statement

The Petitioner John Joseph Moore, Jr. was indicted for the offenses of Murder, Possession of a firearm during commission of a violent crime and possession of a pistol by a person under the age of 21. Petitioner John Joseph Moore Jr. was convicted of Voluntary Manslaughter, possession of a firearm during commission of a violent crime and possession of a pistol by a person under the age of 21, by jury trial held during the January 2008 term of Richland County General Session Court before Judge William P. Keesley. Petitioner was sentenced thirty (30) years imprisonment for Voluntary Manslaughter, five (5) years imprisonment to run concurrently for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and five (5) years imprisonment to run consecutively for possession of a pistol by a person under the age of 21. Petitioner was represented initially by Ms. April Sampson of the Richland County Public Defender's Office; she was subsequently removed as counsel. Petitioner was then represented by Ms. Elizabeth Franklin of the Richland County Public Defender's Office; she was subsequently removed as counsel. Petitioner was then represented by and proceeded to trial with counsel(s) Greg Collions and Doug Strickler of the Richland County Public Defender's Office, and solicitor(s) Heather Weiss, John Meadors and Joanna Mcduffie of the Richland County Solicitors office prosecuted the case. Petitioner appealed the conviction and sentence for possession of a pistol by a person under the age of 21 years and this offense was reversed by the SC Court Of Appeals, petitioners other convictions and sentences were not briefed on appeal by appellant counsel. Petitioner was represented on appeal by Joseph Savitz, III, ESQUIRE, of the South Carolina Office of Appellant Defense. State v. Moore OP.NO.2010-UP-409 (S.C.Ct.App. filed September 16, 2010).

On December 6, 2010, petitioner signed and mailed the original P.C.R. application with an original attachment of issues and the verification to Richland County Clerk of Court. On January 6, 2012 the petitioner filed a supplemental Amendment to the P.C.R application with a memorandum of law by and through his P.C.R counsel, Rowland P. Alston, III. On February 15, 2011, the state filed a Return to the P.C.R application filed by the petitioner. An evidentiary hearing was convened on May 23, 2012 at the Richland County Court House, before Judge L. Casey Manning. On January 7, 2013 Judge Manning issued an Order of Dismissal in this case. Petitioner timely filed a Rule 59 (E) motion to alter and the amend the judgment of Judge Manning's Dismissal Order on January 15, 2013. On April 1, 2014 Judge Manning signed a denial of petitioners 59(E) motion to alter and or amend judgment. Thereafter, the petitioner timely filed a Noticed of Appeal to contest Judge Manning's rulings on the P.C.R application, its attachments, its amends and the denial of the 59(E) motion. The petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

Issue Presented

1. **Is there any evidence of probative value which supports the PCR court's conclusion that counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction explaining how the jury must evaluate the "use of a vehicle as deadly weapon" in determining the weight of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses in evaluating each self-defense element previously charged to the jury by the trial judge under the beyond a reasonable doubt standard.**

In this criminal case there is evidence that was produced at trial which established the necessity for the trial judge to instruct the jury of the current applicable law on self-defense. In instructing the jury with South Carolina applicable self-defense laws the trial judge instructed the jury of the below specific individual components of self-defense principles and how such specific individual components of self-defense principles may become interdependent upon each other and may interact with each other in whole or in part. Additionally, the trial judge instructed the jury of the requirement that the jury must determine beyond a reasonable doubt whether or not the interdependent and/or interactions of these specific individual components of self-defense principles as a whole entitle the defendant to the complete defense of self-defense. The below are excerpts of the trial transcript specifically referring to the multiple self-defense charges the trial judge instructed the jury:

1. **Self-defense is a complete defense.** The trial judge instructed the jury that "self-defense is a complete defense which means that if a defendant acts in self-defense, he is not guilty of murder or manslaughter." App. 749, lines 19-24; App. 752, lines 13-16.
2. **Taken a life is justified under self-defense.** The trial judge instructed the jury a defendant may take the life of an assailant and the taking of that life is justified under the self-defense principles. App. 750, lines 1-4.

3. **Party at fault in bringing difficulty.** The trial judge instructed the jury on the self-defense principle of determining the party at fault in bringing on the difficulty. App. 750, lines 5-12; lines 21-23.
4. **Restoration of self-defense right.** The trial judge instructed the jury on the self-defense principle of determining how and when one who is at fault in bringing on the difficulty can be restored to the full protection of self-defense rights. App. 750, lines 13-20; line 23- App. 751, line 1.
5. **Without fault or withdrawn from conflict.** The trial judge instructed the jury that a defendant who was without fault in bringing on the difficulty or who has withdrawn from the conflict, this defendant must meet the requirement that he actually believes he was in imminent danger or must actually been in imminent danger of death or serious bodily harm. App. 751, lines 2-10.
6. **Strike back of self defense right.** The trial judge instructed the jury that for situations where a defendant is in imminent danger, the circumstances facing the defendant must have been such to warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike back in the manner the defendant allegedly did. App.751, lines 11-23.
7. **Avoiding the danger of death.** The trial judge instructed the jury that the defendant must have had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of death or serious bodily harm except to act as he did. App. 752, lines 9-12.
8. **Consider all the evidence of self-defense before determine innocent or guilt.** The trial judge instructed the jury that if they find “a reasonable doubt of the defendant’s guilt after considering all the evidence, including the evidence of self-defense, then you are to

find the defendant not guilty on the charge of murder. And, again, you can't find him guilty of murder or manslaughter if the act was in self-defense because it is a lawful act." App. 752, line 19-App. 753, line 1.

9. **Perception of danger.** The trial judge instructed the jury that "in assessing the issue of self-defense, you look at all the facts and circumstances. In evaluating the defendant's perception of danger, a defendant may act on appearances and it is not required that a defendant actually have been in danger." App. 753, lines 6-11.
10. **Mistaken belief of threat.** The trial judge instructed the jury that "the defendant has the right to act on appearances even though the defendant's beliefs may have been mistaken." App. 753, lines 14-16.
11. **Means of escape.** The trial judge instructed the jury that "If the defendant has a means of escape, he is generally required to use it. He must leave if he has a means of escaping the danger unless by doing so the danger of being killed or suffering serious bodily injury would increase." App. 753, lines 17-23.
12. **One who is attacked by the use of a deadly weapon.** The trial judge instructed the jury that "one who is attacked by the use of a deadly weapon has no obligation to retreat." App. 753, lines 23-24.
13. **So much force as appeared necessary.** The trial judge instructed the jury that "the defendant has a right to use so much force as appeared to be necessary for complete protection and for which a person of ordinary reason and firmness would have believed to be needed to prevent death or serious bodily harm." App. 754, lines 4-9.

14. **Continuing using force.** The trial judge instructed the jury that “once the defendant is justified in acting in self-defense to defend himself, he is justified in continuing using force until it is apparent that the danger of death or serious bodily injury has completely ended.” App. 754, lines 9-13.
15. **No requirement to wait to be assaulted.** The trial judge instructed the jury that “where a defendant is operating under a reasonable belief of his impending death or serious bodily injury, he is not required to wait until the perceived assailant gets the drop on him before acting in self-defense.” App. 754, lines 14-18.
16. **Follow instructions as explaining by trial judge.** The trial judge instructed the jury “if a defendant acts in self-defense, as I’ve explain all of those concepts to you, he is not guilty of murder or manslaughter.” App.754, lines 19-22.

The jurors were instructed on the above specific principles of the components of the self-defense laws of South Carolina. The jurors were not instructed at all on the proper and permissible evaluations of Derrick’s vehicle in this incident as a “deadly weapon.” The trial counsels Collins and Strickler did not lodged objects nor did either request jury instructions from the trial judge on the legal evaluation the jury must undertake in determining the application of the “deadly weapon” instructions to the evidence presented at trial which involved the conduct, manner and circumstances with which Derrick operated his vehicle in relation to the vehicle occupied by the Defendant and the states witness Kerwyn Phillips. In any other case the significance of the failure to charge a jury instruction as to the use of a vehicle as a deadly weapon would be debatable. But, because of the specific facts and circumstances of this case which were presented to the jurors through trial evidence, coupled with the several interdependent and interactive specific individual components of self-defense principles which

were charged by the trial judge to the jury, this case presents a perfect storm and a stark example demonstrating why it is imperative a jury must be charged correctly and adequately to discharge its duty in determining the evidence constitutionally beyond a reasonable doubt.

In South Carolina, a jury charge which instructs the jury that an automobile is a deadly weapon and that the operator of the automobile holds the same liability as an operator who carelessly uses a firearm is held to be legally permissible and correct. The juries in South Carolina are allowed to treat the automobile driven by an assailing operator and the firearm discharged by an assailing operator as equivalent dangerous instrumentalities that must be placed in the same class of deadly weapon if the jury so finds. (“In South Carolina, an automobile is regarded as a dangerous instrumentality.” State v. Wilds, 584 S.E.2d 138 (S.C. App 2003); Yaun v. Baldrige, 134 S.E.2d 248,251(1964); State v. Caldwell, 98 S.E.2d 259, 261 (1957); State v. Barnett, 63 S.E.2d 57; State v. Dixon, 186 S.E. 531; Stovall v. Sawyer, 187 S.E. 821; State v. Staggs 195 S.E. 130; State v. Sussewell, 146 S.E. 697, 703 (1929); In Re McFadden, 99 S.E 838, 839 (1919); see also State v. Hanahan, 96 S.E. 667 (S.C. 1918)). “ In that by so charging he instructed the jury as a matter of laws that an automobile is a deadly weapon, or dangerous instrumentality, the careless use of which would subject the user thereof to the same liability as the careless use of firearms, whereas, he should have allowed the jury to say whether an automobile is such a dangerous instrumentality that should be placed in the class of deadly weapons”, See also State v. Staggs, 195 S.E. 130 (S.C 1938). An instruction requiring jury to consider the character of the instrumentality was not equivalent to telling jury that automobile was a dangerous instrumentality, but properly left determination to jury. This is not a novel issue in South Carolina, it is a well established legally permissible jury instruction.

No jury charge of Derrick's automobile being a "deadly weapon" was requested nor instructed, even though such a charge is permissible and legal. The failure to object and or request a jury instruction to evaluate the use of Derrick's vehicle as a deadly weapon in determining the Defendant's self-defense, defense of others, right to act on appearance defenses, and other defenses beyond a reasonable doubt is ineffective assistance of counsel in the clearest sense. (See Battle v. State, 409 S.E.2d 400 (1991) ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to request additional specific self-defense instruction on appearances and also on retreat as it relates to self-defense; also Brightman v. State, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999) (ineffective assistance for failing to request jury charge for lesser included offense)). The failure to have a jury instruction on Derrick's vehicle as a deadly weapon impacted this trial such that the Defendant was not given a fair trial as mandated by the U.S. Constitution and the S.C. Constitution.

The need to have the jury properly instructed on the legally permissible manner under which to evaluate Derrick's vehicle as a "deadly weapon" or not is exacerbated by the factual underpinnings of this case. The lack of a jury charge on this point prejudiced the defendant such that he lost the ability to put forth a complete defense to rebut these criminal allegations. For example, the trial judge instructed the jury that one who is attacked by the use of a deadly weapon has no obligation to retreat. (See App. 753, lines 23-24). The State's witness Kerwyn Phillips, who was an occupant in the vehicle in which the Defendant was also a occupant, testified that the witnessed Derrick use his vehicle to swerve into the Defendant's vehicle to force it into the concrete wall of the highway at speeds exceeding 70 m.p.h. (See App. 364, lines 8-10). The trial counsel Collins testified at the PCR hearing that he asked for a self-defense charge in this case "Because that was one of the defenses we were going to try to go forward with." (See App. 855, line 24-App. 856, line 5). The trial counsel Collins went further to explain

that he based his self-defense and request for self-defense charge on the fact Derrick was driving his car towards and swerving his car at the truck occupied by Defendant and the fact Derrick reached under the seat, possibly for a gun. (App. 858, line 20). The Defendant Moore testified extensively at the evidentiary hearing where he testified that Derrick was the aggressor in this case and displayed behavior which defendant described as “a guy that’s out of his mind” which was never brought out at trial. (App. 892 line 16 – 19). The Defendant also testified that victim Ms. Dover was the initial driver and then the vehicle pulled over near the golf course where Derrick swapped seats to the driver position to pursue the Defendant’s truck aggressively. (App. 892, line 24-App. 893, line 4). The Defendant further testified, with clarity, the permissibility to charge a vehicle as a “deadly weapon” under South Carolina law and the subsequent deficiency and prejudice he suffers from counsel Collins failure to request a jury instruction explaining how the jury must evaluate the use of a vehicle as a “deadly weapon” in determining the weight of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses in evaluating each self-defense element previously charged to the jury by the trial judge under the beyond a reasonable doubt standard. (App. 898, line 2-App. 899, line 10).

In analyzing and in determining the denial of this issue the PCR judge found as a matter of law and fact that there is no sanctioned jury charge existing nor relevant case law in South Carolina jurisprudence upon which trial counsel Greg Collins could have based a jury instruction request to support the legality of a charge to have the vehicle driven by Derrick evaluated as a deadly weapon by the defendant’s jury (See PCR Dismissal App. pg. 933 paragraph 2). This PCR court finding is not supported by any evidence of probative value in the record, and actually is contrary to established South Carolina jurisprudence. (State v. Wilds, 584 S.E.2d 138 (S.C. App 2003), State v. Hanahan, 96 S.E 667 (S.C, 1918), and State v. Staggs, 195 S.E. 130 (S.C.

1938)). Additionally, the PCR judge determined denial is warranted on this issue because trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that it was trial strategy because he kept in mind that the defense pursued a defense strategy throughout trial that defendant Moore was not the shooter and requesting this charge would create inconsistencies in this trial defense strategy. (See PCR Dismissal App. pg. 928 paragraph 2). This finding is not supported by any evidence of probative value in the record. In fact, trial counsel testified that he argued for and strategized his defense around self-defense based on Derrick swerving his car into the truck occupied by defendant and based on Derrick reaching under the seat, possibly for a gun. (App. 855, line 24-App. 856, line 11).

The PCR courts findings of fact and conclusions of law that the two-prong standards of Strickland v. Washington, 104 S.Ct. 2052 are not met in this PCR application on this issue, are legally erroneous and are not supported by any evidence of probative value in the record. This PCR denial must be reversed and the defendant Moore be granted relief. (See Simuel v. State, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010), “On appeal, the PCR court’s ruling should be upheld if it is supported by any evidence of probative value in the record.” Id at 739. “However, if there is no evidence to support the PCR court’s ruling the appellate court will reverse.” Id. J; also Lounds v. State, 670 S.E.2d 646 (S.C 2008) and Pauling v. State, 565 S.E.2d 769)). Bell v. State, 765 S.E.2d 4(S.C. App. 2014)).

The Applicant has shown that counsel Collins’ conduct has fallen below an objective standard of reasonableness under the facts of this case and the Applicant has demonstrated a reasonable probability, which is sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome, that but for counsel unprofessional errors the result of Applicant’s trial would have been different. (See

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 and Lee v. Clarke, 2015 WL 1275344, 4th cir. (March 20th, 2015)).

Issue Presented

- 2. Is there any evidence of probative value which supports the PCR Courts conclusion that counsel was not ineffective for failing to object and request examination of the jurors or otherwise move for mistrial on the basis that several jurors fell asleep during the course of the defendant's trial and in doing so compromised the defendant's right to impartial and mentally competent jurors to insure a fair trial.**

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