STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Casey L. Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014 – 000786
Lower Court Case No. 2011-CP-40-0190

RECEIVED

AUG - 7 2015

John J. Moore, Jr., #326455,

S.C. Supreme Court

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

requested. Id. Petitioner also failed to prove prejudice because the jury was instructed on self-defense, Counsel made these specific arguments, and the jury still convicted Petitioner.

Discussion

The PCR court did not err in failing to find Counsel ineffective for not requesting a jury instruction that a vehicle can be a deadly weapon in support of his self-defense argument. When reviewing jury instructions for error, the reviewing court must consider the trial court's charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. State v. Miller, 397 S.C. 630, 635, 725 S.E.2d 724, 727 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 463 (Ct., Ap. 2003)). "Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to a harmless error analysis." Miller, 397 S.C. at 639, 725 S.E.2d at 729. A judge's charge to a jury is sufficient if, as a whole, it is substantially correct and covers the law applicable to the case. State v. Burton, 302 S.C. 494, 397 S.E.2d 90 (1990).

Respondent submits there was no basis for Counsel to request the trial court to make a charge on the facts. The self-defense charges given by the trial court were all proper and are not at issue. Viewing the charges as a whole and considering the ample evidence implicating Petitioner, Respondent submits the jury charges are proper.

First, the trial court could not have instructed the jury as Petitioner argues. The trial court would be making an improper charge on the facts of the case. The South Carolina Constitution provides that "[j]udges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law." S.C. Const. art. V, § 21. The South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 529 S.E.2d 721 (2000),¹ is on point. In Hughey the Court noted that "[a] trial judge's refusal to provide specific jury instructions is not reversible error if the general

¹ Overruled on other grounds by Rosemond v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 680 S.E.2d 5 (2009).

instructions are sufficiently broad to enable the jury to understand the law and the issues involved.” Id. at 452, 529 S.E.2d at 728. Petitioner wanted the trial court to instruct the jury that the Victim and Derrick’s vehicle was a deadly weapon. This would clearly be an inappropriate charge on the specific facts of the case.

Second, Petitioner was unable to present any authority to support the propriety of a charge that a vehicle is a deadly weapon for purposes of his self-defense argument to the PCR court. Petitioner cites a number of cases that are not relevant to the issue at hand. Petitioner cites State v. Wilds, 355 S.C. 269, 584 S.E.2d 138 (Ct. App. 2003), which addressed the issue of whether the defendant was entitled to a directed verdict on an assault and battery with intent to kill charge. Wilds is easily distinguishable. It held that the use of a deadly weapon gives rise to a permissive inference of malice. 355 S.C. at 277-78. The court ruled that the jury could have inferred malice from Wilds’s use of a vehicle in a threatening manner. Id. The case stands for the proposition that malice can be inferred from the use of a vehicle, not that defendants are entitled to jury charges that vehicles constitute deadly weapons in self-defense cases.

Finally, Petitioner cannot prove any resulting prejudice. This matter is at best peripheral to his guilt or innocence. The argument that Victim and Derrick’s vehicle was used to swerve into Petitioner’s vehicle and therefore Petitioner was acting in self-defense by firing shots at that vehicle was clearly made to the jury. Counsel argued that if the jury decided Petitioner was either the shooter or acting in concert with codefendant Phillips, then they should conclude that Petitioner was acting in self-defense. (App. p. 725, line 2 – p. 726, line 4). Petitioner has failed to show the PCR court erred in any manner in denying relief.

II. Certiorari is not warranted where the trial court determined that no juror ever actually fell asleep during the trial.

In the second issue, Petitioner argues Counsel was ineffective for failing to request voir dire of a juror who allegedly fell asleep during the State's closing arguments. He also argues Counsel was ineffective in failing to move for a mistrial on this basis. Respondent submits the PCR court properly denied the allegation that Counsel was ineffective for failing to move for a mistrial when a juror allegedly fell asleep.

How the issue was raised below

There were two instances where the trial court addressed concern with whether a juror may have fallen asleep. After the testimony of Investigator Stanley Richards, the trial court stated: “[B]ut I had one juror over there who kept shutting her eyes and I kept watching her rather intently because I had to stop if she was going asleep. She *never did*. She eventually opened her eyes up completely . . .” (App. p. 325, lines 20-24)(emphasis added). Then Deputy Solicitor Meadors commented: “I noticed the juror on the second row far left and it seemed like some of the jurors were noticing her, too. And I was trying to watch to see if she was sleeping, but I *did not see her doze off*.” (App. p. 326, lines 2-6)(emphasis added).

The second incident happened during the State's closing arguments. The trial court noticed that a juror may have had his eyes closed during the State's closing on the law. The trial court spoke to the jurors

[S]ince there's that noise going on, let me take this opportunity, folks, if y'all don't keep your eyes open, I've got to stop, okay. I know some folks think with their eyes closed, you have to keep your eyes open. If not, I'll have to send you in the jury room, let you get a little caffeine, a little break, whatever you need and then we'll start back, okay? Thank you.

(App. p. 691, line 25 – p. 692, line 7).

The trial court then gave the juror a break: “THE COURT: All right. I've got one juror fighting sleep. He *hasn't* gone to sleep, but he's fighting it pretty bad. So let's give them a break.

We're at ease." (App. p. 692, lines 18-21) (emphasis added). The juror who Petitioner argues fell asleep then sent a note to the trial court explaining that he had a sinus infection and had not fallen asleep:

While we're waiting, one of the jurors sent a note, I assume it was the same young man. He was just explaining he has a sinus infection and his face is swollen and it may cause his eyes to appear to be closed at times. He said he's fine to serve. And I've had that shown to the attorneys. I don't think that's an issue.

(App. p. 693, lines 2-9). No objections were made by either side.

Discussion

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in failing to find counsel ineffective for not moving for a mistrial when jurors allegedly fell asleep during the trial. Respondent submits the trial court's comments on the record fully support the PCR court's ruling.

To the extent Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in failing to find Counsel ineffective in not requesting the juror be subject to voir dire, Respondent submits that issue is not preserved for this Court's review. It is well settled that an issue that has not been presented to or passed upon by trial judge will not be considered on appeal. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). If an issue is raised but not ruled upon, it is not preserved for appeal. State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727. The issue of whether Counsel was ineffective for failing to request examination of the juror was not ruled upon by the PCR court in its Order of Dismissal and is therefore not appropriate for this Court's review. The PCR court addressed the issue of whether Counsel was ineffective in failing to move for a mistrial, so Respondent now turns to that analysis.

Petitioner argues that the PCR court erred in its factual determination that no jurors actually fell asleep. These are issues properly addressed by the filing of a Rule 59(e), SCRPC,

motion at the circuit level. In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. Id. at 477-78, 716 S.E.2d at 93. The PCR court is free to judge the credibility and make factual determinations as it sees fit. Petitioner took great pains to point out that he disagrees with the PCR court's factual rulings and the court's reliance on the trial transcript.² The PCR court's factual rulings should not be disturbed as they are based on the findings made by the trial court contained in the trial transcript. See supra.

Petitioner argues that State v. Hurd, 325 S.C. 384, 480 S.E.2d 94 (1996) is exclusively controlling. Petitioner's reliance on Hurd is misplaced. In Hurd, the court reversed a defendant's conviction because the trial court failed to inquire of a juror who *had* fallen asleep. Hurd is not applicable here because the trial court made the determination that no juror actually fell asleep during the course of the trial. The trial court was keenly aware of when the two jurors looked as if they had their eyes closed and addressed the issue on the record both times. The prosecuting solicitor's comments also support the trial court's determination that no juror ever actually fallen asleep. The PCR court properly relied on the trial court's determination that no jurors had fallen asleep.

Nevertheless, Petitioner failed to present any evidence of prejudice whatsoever. It is apparent from the record that the trial court determined that no juror actually fell asleep. Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he did not move for a mistrial or object when the male juror appeared to have his eyes closed during the State's closing because he was awake during the

² Petitioner also erroneously cites to Rule 201, SCRCP, in requesting this Court to take judicial notice of the fact that Counsel testified he believed a juror to have fallen asleep. Respondent submits that Counsel's testimony at the PCR hearing is before the Court, but that it would be improper for the Court to take judicial notice of a contested factual issue ruled upon by the PCR court.

defense's closing. (App. p. 872, lines 12-19). Where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing a certain strategy, counsel's choice of tactics will not be deemed ineffective assistance. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 530 (1992). Even assuming that the male juror had fallen asleep during the State's closing, the PCR court was correct in finding that would be beneficial and not damaging to Petitioner. The PCR Court's ruling should be upheld.

III. Certiorari is not warranted where the PCR court properly excluded an inadmissible affidavit that contained expert opinion testimony.

Petitioner next argues that the PCR court abused its discretion in excluding an affidavit of Dr. Robert Bennett which gave expert opinion testimony as to the effects of methamphetamine and cocaine and how Victim and Derrick may have been affected by these substances.

PCR Hearing

PCR counsel attempted to admit an affidavit from Dr. Robert Bennett, who apparently is a forensic toxicologist. The affidavit was marked Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 3. The exchange at the PCR hearing went as follows:

MR. ALSTON [PCR counsel]: Your Honor, I'm marking as Exhibit 3 an Affidavit that was submitted for the Court's consideration by a forensic toxicologist that I think is probative of this issue.

THE COURT: Well, that may be fine but where is - - the State has a right to cross-examine this gentleman.

MR. CORNEY [AAG]: Judge, that would be our objection is that he's not here. I don't have an opportunity to cross-examine him on this Affidavit or where this information came from, what investigation he did, how he even came up with these findings.

THE COURT: Your objection is noted. You may proffer what you want – you can proffer this but there's a valid objection. I sustain it but I'm going to let you proceed. Go ahead, as a proffer.

(App. p. 857, lines 1-15).

Discussion

Petitioner argues that the PCR court actually admitted the affidavit, but he is mistaken.

The affidavit was submitted as a proffer and not as substantive evidence. This is made clear in the PCR court's order of dismissal as well:

Applicant attempted to introduce an affidavit of Dr. Robert Bennett into the PCR record regarding the potential effects of Methamphetamine and Cocaine, and Dr. Bennett's opinion in correlating those side effects to this case. Respondent posed a contemporaneous objection to the introduction of the affidavit, which this Court sustained finding the affidavit not admissible on grounds of hearsay, a violation of Respondent's rights to cross-examine the witness, and as impermissible opinion testimony by a witness neither presented, nor qualified, as an expert by this Court. Accordingly, the affidavit was proffered into the record, but not considered by this Court in its determination of the current allegation.

(App. p. 928, fn. 1).

The decision to admit affidavits, depositions, oral testimony, or other evidence at a PCR hearing is within the PCR Court's discretion and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to a party. Simpson v. Moore, 367 S.C. 587, 607-08, 627 S.E.2d 701, 712 (2006). The right to confrontation, although historically limited to criminal prosecution, has been applied in the civil context. South Carolina Department of Social Services ex rel. Texas v. Holden, 319 S.C. 72, 75, 459 S.E.2d 846, 849 (1995) citing Brown v. S.C. State Board of Education, 301 S.C. 326, 391 S.E.2d 866 (1990); State of S.C. v. Nest Egg Society Today, Inc., 290 S.C. 124, 348 S.E.2d 381 (Ct.App.1986).

The PCR court properly excluded the affidavit. First, the document was inadmissible hearsay, and PCR counsel was unable to articulate a valid exception for its admission. Second, Respondent did not have an opportunity to cross-examine or challenge the doctor's qualification, methods, or conclusions. Finally, Petitioner failed to lay the proper foundation for expert opinion testimony to be heard. See Rule 702, SCRPC. The PCR court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the affidavit.

IV. Certiorari is not warranted where the self-defense jury charge was proper and a correct charge on the law.

Next, Petitioner argues that the PCR erred in failing to find Counsel ineffective in not objecting to the use of the words “at fault or jointly at fault in bringing on the difficulty” in the self-defense charge given to the jury. The charge, when taken as a whole, is a correct statement of the law on self-defense. “The trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 712 S.E.2d 436 (2011). “A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 478, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010).

The charge that Petitioner takes issue with was given to the jury as follows:

Now, generally the elements of self-defense include the following things: First, the defendant had to have been without fault in bringing on the difficulty. If Mr. Moore was at fault or jointly at fault in bringing on the difficulty, he is not protected by self-defense even though the initial disagreement escalated beyond what may have been originally envisioned. The only way that someone who is at fault in bringing on the difficulty can be restored to the protections of self-defense is where before the shooting occurred, he had withdrawn from the conflict and tried in good faith to avoid further conflict and by his actions had made known to the other party that he was discontinuing and withdrawing from the dispute, okay. So the first thing on self-defense that you have to evaluate is whether the defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty.

This charge is unquestionably a correct statement of law. Petitioner takes issues with the words “or jointly at fault” and argues that the trial court did not have a basis to charge on the separate instruction of accomplice liability. Petitioner argues in great detail that the separate accomplice liability charge was improper. That issue was not ruled upon by the PCR court and is therefore not preserved. See Gee; Watts. Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to object to the charge that explains the well settled law of self-defense. See State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 768 S.E.2d 232 (Ct. App. 2014). Petitioner failed to present any evidence or argument as to why this charge was improper and therefore failed to meet his burden of proof.

Finally, Respondent submits there is overwhelming evidence of Petitioner’s guilt on the

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